III

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


1. 	 The Circuit Court ofGreenbrier County erred by the Court's finding that the two (2) 

"objection to creditor claim" filed by the Estate of Joe C. Simmons constituted "counter

affidavits" as required by West Virginia Code, §44-2-6 and further by the Court's finding 

that under West Virginia Code, §44-2-6, "there is no requirement that a counter-affidavit 

filed in response to a properly filed claim against the estate of a decedent be verified." 

2. 	 The Circuit Court ofGreenbrier County erred by failing to recognize the significance of 

West Virginia Code, §48-1-233 and its specific language that such statute "has no 

application outside the provisions of this article ... except...for the enforcement of rights 

under this article," (Emphasis added) as to the claim of the Estate ofWatha Wakando 

Simmons and the Court's incorrect reliance upon the doctrine of collateral estoppel as to 

the claim of Carol C. Pope, Individually. 

3. 	 The Circuit Court of Greenbrier County erred in failing to recognize and apply any 

equitable principles ofdomestic relations or other law with regard to the equitable 

property interest ofWatha Wakando Simmons in the marital estate ofher seventy-two 

(72) year marriage which resulted in the dispossession of the property interests of Watha 

Wakando Simmons without remedy or recourse and the unjust enrichment ofher 

estranged husband. 
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IV 


STATEMENT OF THE CASE 


A. Procedural History 

Watha Wakando Simmons died on February 22,2009 at the age of eighty-seven 

(87) years. The Estate of Watha Wakando Simmons has never been settled and closed. 

Joe C. Simmons died on April 23, 2015 at the age of ninety-eight (98) years. Both estates 

were probated in Greenbrier County, West Virginia as they were both lifelong citizens 

and residents of Greenbrier County, West Virginia. Carol C. Pope qualified as Executrix 

of the Estate ofWatha Wakando Simmons and Kyle C. Simmons qualified as the 

Executor of the Estate of Joe C. Simmons, they being the only children born to the 

decedents. Pursuant to statute, proper notice was given by Kyle C. Simmons for the 

filing of claims against the Estate ofJoe C. Simmons and within such statutory time 

period Carol C. Pope, Individually and Carol C. Pope as Executrix ofthe Estate of Watha 

Wakando Simmons filed two properly executed affidavits of creditor claims against the 

Estate ofJoe C. Simmons. Thereafter, counsel for Kyle C. Simmons filed two pleading 

type documents designated "objection to creditor claim" ostensibly on behalfof Kyle C. 

Simmons as Executor, however the same were actually signed "Joseph C. Simmons, by 

counsel." Neither "objection to creditor claim" was in the form of an affidavit, counter

affidavit, nor were they sworn to nor verified by "the personal representative or a 

distributee, or a legatee" of the Estate of Joe C. Simmons. Immediately upon service of 

the two "objection to creditor claim" upon counsel for the Estate of Watha Wakando 

Simmons, counsel filed a pleading like document in response thereto raising the defect in 

such "objections." 
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Thereafter, this matter was referred to Virginia Lemon, a Fiduciary Commissioner 

of Greenbrier County for resolution. A hearing was convened before the Fiduciary 

Commissioner on the 25th day ofApril, 2016, and testimony and evidence was presented 

to the Fiduciary Commissioner and the matter was submitted on that date. Likewise, on 

the 25th day ofApril, 2016 and more than six months after the filing of the creditor claims 

by Carol C. Pope, Individually and Carol C. Pope, on behalfof the Estate of Watha 

Wakando Simmons, two (2) generic verifications bearing the signature of Kyle C. 

Simmons were lodged with the Clerk ostensibly as verification of the "objections" filed 

some six months earlier in this matter. 

On the 5th day of August, 2016 the Fiduciary Commissioner issued her report and 

recommendations. On August 24,2016 the Greenbrier County Commission accepted the 

recommendations of the Fiduciary Commissioner and entered an Order dated September 

7, 2016 denying the claim of Carol C. Pope, Individually and denying the claim of Carol 

C. Pope as Executrix of the Estate ofWatha Wakando Simmons except for an award to 

the Estate of Watha Wakando Simmons in the sum of two hundred, sixty-nine dollars and 

fifty-two cents ($269.52) as the Estate's remaining share of one half (1/2) the value ofthe 

household goods and furnishings owned jointly by Watha Wakando Simmons and Joe C. 

Simmons. 

On the 22nd day of September, 2016 Carol C. Pope, Individually and Carol C. 

Pope, Executrix of the Estate ofWatha Wakando Simmons timely filed an appeal of the 

final Order of the County Commission of Greenbrier County dated September 7, 2016 

pursuant to West Virginia Code, §44-2-19. Thereafter, the Estate of Joe C. Simmons 
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filed responsive pleadings in opposition to the appeal. The Circuit Court granted oral 

presentation of the appeal and argument unto counsel for the parties which was held on 

April 18, 2017. At that hearing certain issues were brought to the attention of the Court 

by counsel for both parties which necessitated the entry of certain Orders by the Circuit 

Court to attempt to reconcile and rectify the pleadings and documents related to the 

Estate ofJoe C. Simmons. 

On the 22nd day ofMay, 2017, the Circuit Court of Greenbrier County entered its 

Order denying the appeal of Carol C. Pope, Individually and Carol C. Pope, Executrix of 

the Estate ofWatha Wakando Simmons and affirming the Order of the Greenbrier 

County Commission dated September 7,2016. It is of and from the Order of the Circuit 

Court of Greenbrier County, of May 22, 2017 that your Appellants prosecute this appeal 

to this Court. 

B. Facts ofthe Case 

Watha Wakando Simmons was born on June 6, 1921. Watha Wakando Simmons 

died on February 22,2009, at the age of eighty-seven (87) years. Joe C. Simmons was 

born on August 14, 1916 and Joe C. Simmons died on April 23, 2015, at the age of 

ninety-eight (98) years. Joe C. Simmons and Watha Wakando Simmons were married on 

July 17, 1936. Atthe time of their marriage, Watha Wakando Simmons was fifteen (15) 

years of age and Joe C. Simmons was nineteen (19) years of age. Neither of them 

brought to their marriage any separate property of any kind, neither real nor personal, nor 

did either acquire any separate property of any substance other than clothing and personal 

effects during the course of the marriage between these parties. The initial marital 
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residence located in Rainelle, West Virginia was a gift to them by members of the family 

of Watha Wakando Simmons and such initial marital residence was later sold in order to 

purchase their "homeplace". 

Joe C. Simmons and Watha Wakando Simmons were married in excess of 

seventy-two (72) years at the time of the death of Watha Wakando Simmons. During the 

marriage neither of them became possessed of any real or personal property from any 

source whatsoever other than by purchase from the marital assets ofWatha Wakando 

Simmons and Joe C. Simmons amassed ''by the sweat of their brows." That during the 

entirety ofthe marriage, Joe C. Simmons worked either in employment or as a farmer and 

other than sporadic employment outside the home, Watha Wakando Simmons was 

predominately a homemaker. As a result of all ofthe foregoing, all assets obtained by 

either or both Watha Wakando Simmons and/or Joe C. Simmons, between July 17, 1936 

(the date ofmarriage of the parties) and February 22,2009 (the date of death ofWatha 

Wakando Simmons) were marital assets and constituted the marital estate ofthese 

parties. 

In or about March of2008, Watha Wakando Simmons moved out of the marital 

domicile of the parties. Shortly thereafter, Watha Wakando Simmons was stricken ill, 

hospitalized and ultimately became a patient and resident of "The Brier" Nursing Home 

where she remained a patient and resident until her death. Watha Wakando Simmons 

also instituted a divorce action in the Family Court of Greenbrier County on November 3, 

2008. As a result, Watha Wakando Simmons and Joe C. Simmons cohabitated as 
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husband and wife in Greenbrier County, West Virginia, from July 17, 1936 until March 

of2008. 

On January 30, 2009 the Family Court of Greenbrier County entered a Temporary 

Order, ordering in pertinent part, that, "all marital property is to be placed into a 

constructive trust". Thereafter, neither the Family Court of Greenbrier County nor any 

Court ofcompetent jurisdiction ever adjudicated the specific ownership of the marital 

estate of these parties, nor the ownership of any separate property of either Joe C. 

Simmons or Watha Wakando Simmons. Neither the Family Court of Greenbrier County 

nor any Court of competent jurisdiction ever terminated nor dissolved the constructive 

trust created by the Temporary Order of January 30,2009 by the Family Court of 

Greenbrier County. 

After the death ofWatha Wakando Simmons on February 22,2009, the Family 

Court of Greenbrier County and thereafter the Circuit Court ofGreenbrier County, 

entered limited Orders in the divorce proceedings, holding and thereafter affirming that 

the divorce action filed by Watha Wakando Simmons against Joe C. Simmons was abated 

as a result of the death ofWatha Wakando Simmons. Upon appeal to this Court, the 

West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals declined to accept review of the Order ofthe 

Circuit Court of Greenbrier County, and as such, the Court did not enter any substantive 

Order with regard to any issue arising out of the divorce action, but simply exercised 

negative judicial review. 

From and after the date of separation of Joe C. Simmons and Watha Wakando 

Simmons and particularly after the filing of the divorce complaint, Joe C. Simmons set 
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upon a course of conduct and converted all marital assets to his own individual control 

and use. Each and every asset owned by Joe C. Simmons or Watha Wakando Simmons, 

despite the title or avowed ownership thereof, were marital assets ofthe marital estate. 

Likewise, Joe C. Simmons set upon a course of conduct whereby Joe C. Simmons failed 

to provide any assets or monies of any kind to Watha Wakando Simmons. Specifically, 

Joe C. Simmons failed to pay the reasonable and necessary expenses for physicians, 

tenement or premises, support, nor even the funeral expenses of Watha Wakando 

Simmons. As a direct and proximate result of such actions, Watha Wakando Simmons 

departed this life effectively impecunious, leaving unpaid expenses including her medical 

expenses, nursing home expenses and funeral expenses. Further, as a direct and 

proximate result of Joe C. Simmons' actions, the Estate ofWatha Wakando Simmons 

was dispossessed of all interest and benefit of the marital estate that she had labored for, 

over more than seventy-two (72) years. 

At the time of the filing of the divorce complaint, they owned significant 

certificates ofdeposit purchased by marital assets. Such certificates of deposit were 

identified as belonging to "Mom and Dad." Additionally, at the time ofthe filing of the 

divorce complaint, they owned numerous investments, individual retirement accounts and 

income producing farm tools, implements and livestock, vehicles and substantial other 

personal property, all ofwhich were purchased by marital assets. As a result of the fact 

that Watha Wakando Simmons had the ''bad timing" ofdying prior to any further action 

by the Family Court of Greenbrier County beyond the entry of the Temporary Order, Joe 

C. Simmons determined that he had ''won'' and that the entirety of the marital estate 

amassed by both of the parties over more than seventy-two (72) years ofmarriage simply 
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belonged to him. He claimed every single asset as his own; he closed and transferred all 

checking accounts to his own use; he disposed of substantial investments, including 

individual retirement accounts, certificates ofdeposit, and almost all income producing 

and personal property acquired during the course of their more than seventy-two (72) 

year marriage. Further, as previously stated, Joe C. Simmons failed and refused to pay 

for any ofthe necessities oflife for Watha Wakando Simmons, including her medical 

expenses, nursing home expenses and funeral expenses during her last year of life. 

Subsequent to the death of Watha Wakando Simmons, "The Brier" 

Nursing Home sued Joe C. Simmons and Carol C. Pope in the Circuit Court of 

Greenbrier County for the sum of$23,140.00 for the care and maintenance rendered to 

Watha Wakando Simmons. In order to resolve the claim, Carol C. Pope, individually, 

paid $7,000.00 in settlement and compromise of such claim, and Joe C. Simmons 

likewise paid $7,000.00 in compromise and settlement of such claim. Additionally, Carol 

C. Pope, Individually is being held liable for the funeral expenses for Watha Wakando 

Simmons. Finally, subsequent to the death of Joe C. Simmons, all assets that Joe C. 

Simmons had not transferred or alienated in some form or another were sold by his 

Executor, Kyle C. Simmons. 

Carol C. Pope filed a creditor's claim for the monies she paid to the 

nursing home for the care and treatment ofWatha Wakando Simmons and for payment of 

the funeral expenses of Watha Wakando Simmons. Carol C. Pope, Executrix of the 

Estate of Watha Wakando Simmons, filed a creditor's claim for Watha Wakando 

Simmons' share of the marital estate ofWatha Wakando Simmons and Joe C. Simmons. 
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SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

It is unreasonable to believe or even assume that there is a rule of law that 

addresses each and every eventuality of our human existence. However, our legislature 

and our courts have been dutiful in addressing so many of our societal ills. Commencing 

in the late 1970's and since that time this Court and the West Virginia legislature has 

progressively developed a body of law relative to the concept of equitable distribution of 

marital property and recognizing the contributions of a wife to the acquisition and 

maintenance of the marital estate, whether by direct financial contributions from 

employment or by the contribution of non-economic factors and recognizing such as a 

property interest. Justice Miller in LaRue v. LaRue, 304 S.E. 2nd 312, 172 W. Va. 158 

(1983) detailed the history of the development of equitable distribution, not only in West 

Virginia but in other jurisdictions, and enunciated the need for protecting these property 

interests. Obviously, all of the cases discussed by Justice Miller dealt with the 

application oflaw in divorce actions and provided precedent and guidance to the courts in 

crafting appropriate Orders to protect these property interests. Furthermore, in Justice 

Neely's concurring opinion in LaRue, Justice Neely further expounded on the social need 

for development ofthis area oflaw and provided the unsettling statistics relative to the 

economic position ofwomen post divorce. 

Given this backdrop it is hard to imagine that a case such as the one at bar could have 

so easily "fallen through the cracks." As demonstrated herein a fifteen (15) year old 

woman married a nineteen (19) year old man and set off to begin their life together with 
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no appreciable assets whatsoever. During the ensuing seventy-two (72) years these 

parties amassed a very respectable marital estate. For reasons not developed in the 

record, Watha Wakando Simmons determined to leave the marital residence and to file a 

divorce action. Unfortunately, the Family Court only had the opportunity to enter a 

Temporary Order (declaring a constructive trust of all marital assets) before Watha 

Wakando Simmons died. As a result of the death of Watha Wakando Simmons the 

Family Court of Greenbrier County properly dismissed the divorce action as abated. 

Upon appeal to the Circuit Court of Greenbrier County, the Circuit Court affirmed the 

dismissal of the case as abated. Thereafter, this Court exercised negative judicial review 

and refused the appeal prosecuted to this Court. As a result of the rulings of these three 

courts, Joe C. Simmons simply took control and possession of the entirety of the marital 

estate acquired by both Watha Wakando Simmons and Joe C. Simmons and converted 

the entirety of it to his own use and possession. Such a long, hard fought and enlightened 

progression ofjudicial decisions and legislative enactments could not and cannot have 

been for naught. Because Watha Wakando Simmons died prior to the entry of any Order 

adjudicating the relative rights of the parties to the divorce action cannot be allowed to 

constitute a default and abdication ofher property interests in the marital estate to which 

she committed seventy-two (72) years of her life. Unfortunately, this is where the case 

presently stands. 

To add insult to injury, a review of the transcript of the hearing held in this matter 

before the Fiduciary Commissioner clearly discloses the view ofJoe C. Simmons and his 

executor that as a result of the Orders of the three courts set out above, Joe C. Simmons 

and his executor believed that, "We won". Kyle C. Simmons, the Executor of the estate 
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ofJoe C. Simmons viewed the claims asserted against the Estate of Joe C. Simmons with 

such little dignity that he failed to follow the statutory mandates to challenge the 

creditor's claims filed by his mother's estate and his sister. 
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VI 


STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND 

DECISION 

This case should be set for oral argument and oral argument should be according to Rule 

19. This case is appropriate for Rule 19 argument pursuant to Rule 19(a)(1) and (4). This case is 

appropriate for memorandum decision. 
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VII 

ARUMENT 

The Circuit Court of Greenbrier County erred by the Court's finding that the two (2) 
"objection to creditor claim" filed by the Estate of Joe C. Simmons constituted "counter
affidavits" as required by West Virginia Code, §44-2-6 and further by the Court's finding 
that under West Virginia Code, §44-2-6, "there is no requirement that a counter-affidavit 
filed in response to a properly filed claim against the estate of a decedent be verified." 

In all cases wherein a County Commission (formerly the County Court) sits as the "Probate 

Court" of the county, its actions and decisions are controlled exclusively by statute. This Court 

in Gapp v. Gapp, 30 S.E. 2nd 530, 126 W. Va. 874 (1944) stated: 

"The jurisdiction of county courts of 'all matters ofprobate, the appointment and 
qualification of. .. committees, ...and the settlement of their accounts ... ' is conferred by 
Article VIII, Section 24, Constitution ofWest Virginia; and the same constitutional 
provision permits county courts to exercise 'such other powers and perform such other 
duties, not of a judicial nature, as may be prescribed by law.' The jurisdiction so 
conferred cannot be taken away by legislative enactment, but the legislature within the 
letter and spirit thereofmay prescribe the minutiae of its exercise, which has been done 
by enactment ofpertinent statutes." 

Specifically, West Virginia Code, §44-2-5 prescribes the procedure for filing a claim against an 

estate. In this regard, West Virginia Code, §44-2-5 mandates that, "Every claim against the 

estate of a decedent shall be itemized, verified by affidavit ..." (Emphasis added). Accordingly, 

it is therefore statutorily mandated that claims against the estate ofdecedents shall be verified by 

affidavit. There is no question that the two creditor claims filed in this matter against the Estate 

of Joe C. Simmons were affidavits and timely filed pursuant to statute. 

Conversely, West Virginia Code, §44-2-6 mandates the procedure for "objections to 

claims." Pursuant to West Virginia Code, §44-2-6 once a claim has been filed- against an estate, 

" ...the personal representative or a distributee, or a legatee, or, in the case of estates that appear 
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to be insolvent, a creditor, shall file before the Commissioner a counter-affidavit, denying the 

claim in whole or in part ..." In this case, the two creditor claims at issue were duly and properly 

filed on October 14, 2015. Thereafter on November 3,2015 two "objection to creditor claim" 

pleadings were filed as "Joseph C. Simmons, by counsel"; the same were signed by Christine B. 

Stump, Esquire and bore a certificate of service showing service upon Carol Clark Pope, pro se. 

Neither ofthe "objection to creditor claim" were in the form of an affidavit or counter-affidavit 

and neither of the pleadings were verified or sworn to in any manner. It is here noted that some 

six months later, specifically on April 25, 2016 a generic verification signed by "K. C. Simmons, 

Executor of the Estate of Joe C. Simmons", identifying a "objection to proofof claim" was 

lodged in the file of the Estate of Joe C. Simmons. 

The language employed by the legislature in West Virginia Code, §44-2-6 is in no way 

vague nor ambiguous where it mandates that, "the personal representative or distributee, or a 

legatee, or. .. a creditor shall file before the Commissioner a counter-affidavit. .." In the first 

instance, the two "objection to creditor claim" were not and are not counter-affidavits. 

Secondly, such counter-affidavit must be of, " ...the personal representative or a distributee, or a 

legatee, or, ... a creditor ..." In the instant case the two "objection to creditor claim" pleadings 

were signed by counsel on behalf of "Joseph C. Simmons". Joseph C. Simmons was, in fact the 

decedent and not the personal representative, the distributee, legatee or creditor of his own estate. 

This Court has a long-standing adherence to "a few basic rules of statutory construction." 

As Justice Davis wrote in Hose ex reI K.M.H v. Estate ofHose, 230 W. Va. 61, 736 S.E. 2nd 61 

(2012): 
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"We begin by observing a few basic rules of statutory construction. We have held 
that' [w ] here the language ofa statute is clear and without ambiguity the plain 
meaning is to be accepted without resorting to the rules of interpretation' '[W]e 
have a duty to apply the statute as written when its terms are not ambiguous.' As 
the Court stated in Syllabus point 5 of State ofWest Virginia v. General Daniel 
Morgan Post No. 548V.F.W., 144 W. Va. 137, 107 S.E. 2nd 353 (1959), '[w]hen 
a statute is clear and unambiguous and the legislative intent is plain, the statute 
should not be interpreted by the courts, and in such case it is the duty of the courts 
not to construe but to apply the statute' ("Judicial interpretation of a statute is 
warranted only ifthe statute is ambiguous and the initial step in such 
interpretative inquiry is to ascertain the legislative intent.")" (Citations omitted). 

In its findings, the Circuit Court found as follows: 

"3. Pursuant to West Virginia Code, §44-2-6, contrary to the argument of counsel 
for the Appellant, there is no requirement that a counter-affidavit filed in response 
to a properly filed claim against the estate of a decedent be verified. 

4. In neither In re: Estate of Hardin, 158 W. Va. 614, 212 S.E. 2nd 750 (1975) nor 
In re: Estate of McIntosh, 144 W. Va. 583, 109 S.E. 2nd 153 (1959), where 
appeals were taken from Commissioners' findings on creditors' claims and 
objections, is there any mention by the Appellant, the Circuit Courts or the 
Supreme Court of a requirement that objections be verified." 

It is axiomatic that a counter-affidavit be sworn or otherwise verified. Without an oath or 

verification of some form a written document is not a counter-affidavit. Although the Circuit 

Court mentions in its findings the generic verifications filed six months after the "objection to 

creditor claim" documents were filed" ... despite there being no requirement to do so, copies of 

verifications were filed prior to the commencement of the hearing before the Fiduciary 

Commissioner." Oddly, the generic verifications (which described a different document on their 

face) were not time stamped and bore the date of April 25, 2016, the date of the Fiduciary 

Commissioner hearing. And, there is no way for the Court to have found that such were filed 

prior to the hearing. The Circuit Court is simply wrong with regard to its view ofwhat 

constitutes a counter-affidavit. The two "objection to creditor claim" documents that were filed 

in this case were simply pleadings filed by a lawyer which bore no affirmation, oath nor 
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verification ofany kind. As such, the same did not meet the requirements of West Virginia 

Code, §44-2-6. The Circuit Court was also incorrect where it discussed in its Order of May 22, 

2017 the Hardin, and the McIntosh, cases relating to the "requirement that objections be 

verified." Specifically, in Hardin, the Court at page 753 of that opinion discusses the two 

statutes regarding claims and objections and discusses the need for the filing of an affidavit and 

a counter-affidavit. 
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The Circuit Court of Greenbrier County erred by failing to recognize the 
significance of West Virginia Code, §48-1-233 and its specific language that such 
statute ''has no application outside the provisions of this article ... except...for the 
enforcement of rights under this article," (Emphasis added) as to the claim of 
the Estate of Watha Wakando Simmons and the Court's incorrect reliance upon 
the doctrine of collateral estoppel as to the claim of Carol C. Pope, Individually. 

As previously noted herein, this Court and the West Virginia legislature since the 1970's 

have been involved in the evolution of statutory and judicial protections of the property rights of 

spouses and particularly women such as Watha Wakando Simmons. As established in this case, 

Watha Wakando Simmons was married in 1936 at the age of fifteen (15) to a nineteen (19) year 

old young man, neither whom had any estate or property to speak ofother than some real estate 

gifted to them by Watha Wakando Simmons' family. For the next seventy-two (72) years 

through their joint ''blood, sweat and tears" they amassed a respectable marital estate. As a result 

ofmarital discord, Watha Wakando Simmons moved out of the marital residence and instituted 

an action for divorce. Unfortunately and as a result of the ill health ofWatha Wakando 

Simmons, the only action taken with regard to the divorce filing was a temporary hearing and the 

entry ofa Temporary Order. Soon thereafter, Watha Wakando Simmons died and as a result of 

her death the divorce action was dismissed as abated. Prior to her death, Watha Wakando 

Simmons executed a Will which made provision for the distribution of the assets and property 

she amassed during her lifetime. However, as a result of the dismissal of the divorce action, Joe 

C. Simmons took unto himself essentially all of the assets amassed by he and his wife during 

their seventy-two (72) years ofmarriage. 

In tlns regard, the Circuit Court in its Order of May 22,2017 found that: 

"12. The Appellant claims that she is entitled to half the value of the marital 
estate which existed at the time ofWatha Wakando Simmons' death. In support 
ofher position, the Appellant relies on West Virginia Code §48-1-233, and argues 
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that the claim filed on behalf of the Estate of Watha Wakando Simmons was 
specifically filed 'for the enforcement of rights under this article.' Appellant 
argues that this language is intended by the Legislature to prevent unfair and 
inequitable results, as she alleges to have occurred in this case. However, 
equitable distribution ofmarital property as discussed in West Virginia Code 
Chapter §48 (sic) governing Domestic Relations, this Court believes, in this 
instance, is irrelevant." 

In this instance, resort is again had to Justice Miller's opinion in LaRue v. LaRue, 304 S.E. 2nd 

312, 172 W. Va. 158 (1983) wherein Justice Miller, discussing the development of the law of 

equitable distribution wrote: 

"The concept of equitable distribution of marital property has achieved an almost 
universal acceptance in the divorce laws of the various states. It originated when 
courts applied their equitable powers to secure equitable rights for one spouse in 
property titled or held by the other spouse based on the claim that a resulting or 
constructive trust should be impressed on the property. The basis for such a claim 
was that the spouse seeking an interest in the property had made a substantial 
economic contribution toward the acquisition of the property. Consequently, 
under the principles ofunjust enrichment, it would be unfair to permit the spouse 
with title or possession to keep the entire interest. This general rule is set out in 
27B C.J.S. Divorce §293: 

'Where.a wife has made a material contribution to the husband's 
acquisition ofproperty during coverture, she acquires a special equity in 
the property so accumulated which equity entitles her, on divorce, to an 
award in satisfaction thereof; and it is not a necessary prerequisite that the 
wife show that she has contributed by funds or efforts to the acquiring of 
the specific property awarded to her, but division may be had even though 
the wife has not contributed funds or efforts to the acquisition of the 
specific property awarded to her.' 

Judicial decisions involving these equitable principles have more recently been 
supplemented and enhanced by various forms of Legislative enactments. " 

Along the lines of the writings of Justice Miller, the Legislature defined marital property 

in West Virginia Code, §48-1-233 as follows:

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