INTRODUCTION 

At the outset it must be noted that the Petitioners' Brief does not contain even one 

reference or citation to the Appendix delivered to counsel with the Petitioners' Brief. 

The Appendix consisted of a stack of papers measuring 3 % inches tall wrapped in brown 

paper. The Appendix was not held together in any fashion nor divided into manageable 

volumes. Rule 10 (c)(7) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure requires that 

"[t]he argument must contain appropriate and specific citations to the record on Appeal, 

including citations that pinpoint when and how the issues in the assignments of error 

were presented to the lower tribunal". Rule 10 (c)(7) of the West Virginia Rules of 

Appellate Procedure further provides that "[t]he Court may disregard errors that are not 

adequately supported by specific references to the record on appeal." 
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SUMMARY RESPONSE 

The Respondent presents unto the Court this Summary response pursuant to Rule 

(10)(d) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure. Although the Assignments of 

Error presented in "Petitioners' Brief' contain more than one alleged error the 

Respondent will attempt to address the Assignments of Error in the same order as present 

by the Petitioners as follows: 

Assignment of Error No.1. 

The Circuit Court properly found that a plain reading of West Virginia Code § 

44-2-6 does not require that a counter affidavit be verified. (Appendix page 648) 

(hereinafter App. pg.). The also Court properly found that even through the statute does 

not require that the answer to the claim be verified that in the instant matter a verification 

was filed by counsel for the Respondent prior the commencement of the hearing before 

the Fiduciary Commissioner (App. pg. 649; App. pg. 425; App. pg. 668 lines 16-24; App. 

pg. 669 lines 1-6) 

While the Circuit Court addressed the issue on Appeal from the Order of the 

County Commission of Greenbrier County it should be noted that at no time during the 

hearing held before the Fiduciary Commissioner did counsel for Petitioners individually 

or as Executrix of the Estate of Watha Wakando Simmons ever raise the issue regarding a 

verified answer to the claim. (App. pgs. 475-553). The Court took up preliminary matters 

before testimony and the issue was not raised or preserved at any time during the hearing. 

(App. pgs. 475-477) 
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Assignment of Error No.2. 

This Assignment of Error actually appears to be two (2) separate assignments of 

error. The first issue appears to be the Circuit Court's refusal to apply the provisions of 

West Virginia Code § 48-1-233 to the Petitioners' claim on the Respondent's estate and 

the second error raised is the Court's reliance upon the doctrine of collateral estoppel as 

to the Petitioner's monetary claim for reimbursement for the money paid to settle the 

related prior civil suit. 

Application of West Virginia Code § 48-1-233 

The Circuit Court properly found that West Code § 48-1-233 did not provide an 

avenue for the Petitioners to obtain equitable distribution of the former marital estate 

when the divorce had abated and had been dismissed. (App. pg. 650). The Court relied 

upon the clearly stated principles regarding post-divorce property rights set forth in 

Bridgeman v. Bridgeman, 182 W.Va. 677 (1990) and Zikos v. Clark, 214 W.Va. 235 

(2003). In both Bridgeman and Zikos the parties had been granted a divorce and 

therefore the property rights survived the death of a party. In the instant case, the divorce 

action abated and was dismissed after the death of Watha Wakando Simmons because 

there had been no granting of a divorce. (App. pgs. 60-61). In this case there was no 

Divorce Order and therefore no equitable distribution. There simply does not exist a 

property right pursuant to West Virginia Code Title 48 that survived the death of Watha 

Wakando Simmons. This exact issue has been litigated by the Petitioners in the prior 

Divorce case by appeal to the Circuit Court and this Court. (App. pgs. 75-87). On each 

occasion the Court has rejected the Petitioners attempt to enforce equitable distribution 

beyond West Virginia Code § 48-1-233 when there has been no Order of divorce. 
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The Circuit Court and the Fiduciary Commissioner both relied upon this Court's 

holding in Kidwell v. Kidwell, 189 W.Va. 307 (1993). (App. pgs. 237, 651). In Kidwell 

the Circuit Court affirmed the findings of the Fiduciary Commission that held the rules 

governing equitable distribution of marital property in divorce actions were not 

applicable in determining a decedent's interest in property to be included in an estate. 

Collateral Estoppel 

In the second alleged error contained in Assignment of Error No.2 the Petitioners 

assert that the Court misapplied the doctrine of collateral estoppel. This claim is without 

merit. After the death of Watha Wakando Simmons the nursing home "The Brier" filed a 

claim in the Circuit Court for Greenbrier County, West Virginia captioned Shenandoah 

Manor aJk/a The Brier Rehabilitation and Nursing Center v. Joe C. Simmons and Carol 

C. Pope jointly and severally, Carol C. Pope, Executrix of the Estate of Watha Wakando 

Simmons, deceased. (Civil Action No. 1O-C-47(R) (App. pgs. 429-430). Carol C. Pope, 

Executrix of the Estate of Watha Wakando Simmons, deceased, filed a crossclaim against 

Joe C. Simmons requesting judgment against Joe C. Simmons. (App. pgs. 434-437). The 

entire case was presented for mediation before mediator Attorney Graydon C. Ooten, Jr. 

and all issues relating to payment owed to "The Brier" or payment to the parties were 

settled and the matter dismissed with prejudice. (App. pgs. 337-340) 

The Court's reliance on Conley v. Spillers, 171 W.Va. 584 (1983) was 

appropriate, as the Collateral Estoppel requirements set forth in Conley have been met 

and the individual Petitioner is estopped from relitigating the matter she previously 

settled through mediations. In her testimony before the Special Commissioner the 

Petitioner acknowledged that she participated in mediation. (App. pg. 538 line 24-25, pg. 
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539 line 1-25). The Petitioner also acknowledged that her crossclaim for payment from 


Joe C. Simmons (when he was still living) was dismissed with prejudice. (App. 539 line 


8-25) 


Assignment of Error No.3. 


The Assignment of Error No.3 as asserted by Petitioners is merely a repeat of the 

alleged error that the Estate of Watha Wakando Simmons is entitled to equitable 

distribution in an abated and dismissed Divorce action. The Circuit Court properly found 

that equitable distribution under the Domestic Relations statutes was not relevant to the 

proceeding before the Circuit Court or the Fiduciary Commissioner. (App. pg. 52). This 

Assignment of Error asserted by the Petitioners points out the difficulty in replying to a 

brief unsupported by even one citation to the record. Petitioners make grandiose claims 

of unjust enrichment and wrong-doing by the deceased, Joe C. Simmons. The Circuit 

Court correctly stated these allegations and assertions were not supported by the record. 

(App. pg. 653). A review of all 696 pages of the Appendix reveals that there is not one 

shred of evidence to support claims of unjust enrichment obtained by Joe C. Simmons or 

any wrong-doing by Joe C. Simmons. 

A review of the record reveals that the Petitioner's mother Watha Wakando 

Simmons received a monthly black lung payment, a jointly owned CD cashed in for 

$10,574.00 and an annuity cashed in for $21,973.18. (App. pg. 540 line 5-24). In her 

testimony before the Special Commissioner the Petitioner did not present any proof that 

any assets of Watha Wakando Simmons were converted or taken by Joe C. Simmons. 

(App. pg. 541 lines 5-18). The Respondent testified that, as executor of the estate of his 

5 


http:21,973.18
http:10,574.00


father, he did not sell any property that was solely owned by Watha Wakando Simmons. 

(App. pg. 511 lines 3-16) 

The Fiduciary Commissioner's Report and Recommendation details the 

ownership interests of the parties based on the evidence presented at the hearing. (App. 

pgs.237-241). Other than vague references to applying the principles of equitable 

distribution as set forth in West Virginia Code § 48-1-233 the Petitioners do not provide 

any citations to the record or argument that the findings of the Fiduciary Commissioner 

were not supported by the evidence presented at the hearing. 
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CONCLUSION 

The appeal should be denied in its entirety for failure adequately support the 

Assignments of Error and the arguments in support of the Assignments of Error with 

appropriate and specific citations to the record on Appeal. The Appeal should further be 

denied as the Circuit Court correctly found that the Fiduciary Commissioner's application 

of law to the facts of the case as presented to her was proper and based upon sound legal 

president.